FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

AMERICAN BITUMINOUS POWER PARTNERS, LP,

Petitioners,

v.

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. ("Horizon") alleges the following assignments of error:

A. The lower court erred in granting summary judgment to American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("AMBIT") AMBIT, as to whether particular actions are "arbitrary and capricious," which is a determined as a matter of fact, not law.

B. The lower court erred in acting as the finder of fact in granting summary judgment by explicitly weighing each party's evidence and, thereby, usurping the finder of fact's duties; and
C. The lower court erred by improperly relying on AMBIT's interpretation of its 2017 decision in dismissing Horizon's other claims, and therefore erroneously dismissed those claims for reasons unsupported by law

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*." *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner believes oral argument is necessary in this case under W. Va. R. App. P. 19 and 20. Primarily, this case involves an issue of unsettled law pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(1) regarding the standard of law to be applied when resolving claims dealing with contracted-for uses of discretion, and further involves error in the application of settled law in resolving a summary judgment motion under W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1).

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

These parties have been litigating various disputes between and among themselves and other parties for more than thirty (30) years. AMBIT operates the Grant Town Power Plant, in

Marion County, West Virginia. Horizon is AMBIT's landlord. The decades of disputes between the parties have been focused, almost exclusively, on two primary issues: i) AMBIT's use of its "reasonable judgment," in using "foreign," *i.e.*, not Horizon's, fuel to power the Grant Town Power Plant, and ii) the priority order in which Horizon is to be paid by AMBIT in relation to other creditors. In the original Agreement, Horizon received three percent (3%) of AMBIT's gross revenues when "Local fuel" is used, and one percent (1%) of AMBIT's gross revenues when "Foreign fuel" is used. The parties also agreed to a series of different circumstances where the use of "Foreign fuel," for "operating reasons," would be paid at a one percent (1%) gross, but, when Foreign fuel was used for "non-operating reasons," it would trigger the higher three percent (3%) rate. Appx. 00204-00205. AMBIT has found numerous excuses, in the intervening three decades, to use Foreign fuel for improperly claimed "operating reasons."¹

Here, Horizon appeals the lower court's grant of summary judgment to AMBIT in resolving Horizon's counterclaim in the above-captioned matter. The lower court, in finding for AMBIT, held that Horizon had failed to produce evidence which would have shown AMBIT breached its contract with Horizon when it used Foreign fuel to power the Grant Town Power Plant, in a fashion which was "arbitrary and capricious." Appx. 02076. More specifically, the lower court found, in relevant part, that "undisputed relevant evidence . . . demonstrates that AMBIT exercised its contractually granted independent discretion in using Foreign fuel for Operating Reasons at all times at issue here." This seminal, and incorrect, finding of fact by the Court was directly contrary to evidence produced by Horizon through expert testimony and other evidence.

¹ AMBIT did not question the 1% rate for Foreign fuel being used for operating reasons until June 2013. Prior to that, rent payment was determined by the terms of the 1996 Settlement Agreement and was paid by the higher agreed-to rate of 2.5%. AMBIT did not challenge the percentage rate at the higher rate of 3% from the date the power plant began selling power to Mon Power in 1993, nor the percentage rate of 2.5% in 1996. The percentage of rent owed was never an issue in any action filed by Horizon in the past.

Moreover, this specific finding by the Court reversed and contradicted its own prior ruling, which explicitly held that "reasonable minds could differ as to whether AMBIT used its contracted-for independent discretion arbitrarily and capriciously as that term is used in the law in using "Foreign fuel" for Operating Reasons from December 2012 to the present." Appx. 01148.

While, ultimately, the question before the lower court was whether summary judgment was appropriate, numerous smaller questions inform that decision. First, Petitioner believes that the "arbitrary and capricious" standard used by the lower court is not the correct standard, and second, the finding by the Court involves a question of fact not proper for summary judgment, and that the standard is not a question of law to be decided by the Court in granting summary judgment.

Further, the lower court's decisions which ultimately resulted in the issues before the lower court being narrowed to those limited questions required that the lower court improperly read findings into the final decisions of prior litigation between the parties which are not present. The lower court's original error can be traced back to AMBIT dictating its interpretation of the prior matter between the two parties, and the Court largely, and incorrectly, accepting that interpretation. Critically, this misinterpretation by the lower court of its prior opinion influenced every subsequent decision in the matter, narrowing the scope of the case in a manner which was improper and unwarranted, and which ultimately led to in the summary judgment being appealed here.

For these reasons, and other reasons set forth herein, Horizon moves this Court to overturn the summary judgment granted against it by the lower court in this matter.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Facts of the Case

The relevant history between these parties stretches back more than three decades, with multiple lawsuits, settlements and amended agreements being litigated, in various capacities, since 1989. This history is critical to the understanding of the appealed issues here.

On or about November 29, 1989, Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. ("Horizon") and American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("AMBIT") entered into an Amended and Restated Lease Agreement regarding the operation of the Grant Town Power Plant ("Power Plant") in Marion County, West Virginia.² *See, inter alia*, 1989 Agmt., Appx. 00185-00369. More specifically, AMBIT leased parcels of real property in Marion County for "constructing, operating, and maintaining an electric generation plant on the Leased Premises for generation and sale of electricity, steam, ash, hot water, and hot air. Appx. 00017. The Power Plant was constructed using One Hundred Fifty Million Dollars (\$150,000,000) in Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds issued by the Marion County Commission. See, e.g., AMBIT Mot. To Dismiss, Appx. 00095. The repayment of those bonds is governed by a January 1, 1990 "Trust Indenture," which dictates and sets forth the priority of payments to be made. Appx. 00105.

The November 29, 1989 Agreement was amended by an Amended and Restated Lease Agreement on December 28, 1989, a Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease dated January 11, 1990, a March 31, 1993 letter of agreement, a Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease ("Third Amendment"), dated April 1, 1993, as well as a May 23, 1994 Settlement Agreement. Appx. 00048-00079.

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, AMBIT agreed to pay one percent (1%) of its revenue to Horizon as rent, so long as AMBIT used Local fuel. Appx. 00204-

 $^{^{2}}$ As the parties have switched designations numerous times over the course of this litigation, for simplicity's sake they will be referred to as "Horizon" and "AMBIT" exclusively, instead of, *e.g.*, Plaintiff, Petitioner, Defendant, or Respondent.

00206. The percentage remained the same if AMBIT had to use Local fuel for "non-operating reasons." *Id.* However, if AMBIT used Foreign fuel for a "operating reason," that percentage rose to three percent (3%). *Id.*

The Amended and Restated Lease Agreement set forth that "the term 'Operating Reason' means that Tenant, in its reasonable judgment, has determined that a percentage (partial or total) of Foreign fuel is required for a series of reasons, the most important of which is "due to exhaustion of the usable waste coal material on the Demised Premises." Appx. 00205. In contrast, the "Non-Operating Reasons" are merely that "such use is designed to reduce the cost of limestone usage by a Plant or . . . there is no operating reason to do so." *Id.* at 00205-00206.

In the Third Amendment, however, AMBIT agreed that for a period of eighteen (18) years, from 1993 to 2011, all use of "Foreign fuel" was for non-operating reasons, which required the three percent (3%) gross payment to Horizon for the use of Foreign fuel. Appx. 00051. Despite this agreement, Horizon was forced to institute litigation to recover past rents on April 12, 1994.³ This litigation ultimately resulted in AMBIT paying Horizon Two Hundred One Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty-Nine Dollars and Fifty-Seven Cents (\$201,739.57) in rental payments and other costs. Following AMBIT's additional and intentional failures to pay rent, Horizon was again forced to institute litigation to recover past rents on February 2, 1996, which was settled by agreement.⁴ The May 28, 1996 Agreement to Resolve Pending Litigation ("Settlement Agreement") states, in relevant part:

2. Tenant's Admissions

a. Tenant acknowledges, as a fact, that since the commencement of operations by the Plant, all Foreign Fuel used in the operation of the Plant has been used for

³ Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. v. American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P., Civ. A. 94-43-C (N.D. W. Va. 1994).

⁴ Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. v. American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P., Civ. A. 96-C-32 (N.D. W. Va. 1996).

Non-Operating Reasons, and further acknowledges, as a fact, that so long as any Local Fuel is located at the Demised Premises, any Foreign Fuel being used in the operation of the Plant is being used for Non-Operating Reasons. As contemplated by the Lease, Local Fuel includes "waste coal material" (as defined in the Lease) on the Demised Premises, whether or not permitted by permits whose issuance or continuance is subject to actions which are within Tenant's control and whether or not reclaimed and is not dependent on the quality of the waste coal material. Tenant expects and intends that Horizon will detrimentally rely on this factual admission, that such reliance is foreseeable by Tenant and reasonable on the part of Horizon, and that such reliance is evidenced by Horizon's execution and delivery of this Agreement. Tenant further acknowledges and agrees that Tenant has no claim to recover any rents paid to Horizon prior to the date of this Agreement.

Appx. 00064 (emphasis added).

Pursuant to this Settlement Agreement, AMBIT was forced to pay another Two Hundred Forty-Four Thousand Eight Hundred Eighty-Five Dollars and Eighteen Cents (\$244,885.18) to Horizon. AMBIT further agreed, in written correspondence, that the then agent for the group of banks securing repayment under the Trust Indenture would "not challenge payments made in accordance" with AMBIT's agreement that "so long as Local Fuel is located at the site, it is reasonable to conclude that all Foreign Fuel is being used for non-operating reasons." Appx. 00081. In return for this concession, Horizon agreed to reduce the amount AMBIT owed from three percent (3%) to a base of two and one-half percent (2.5%) with a series of additional payments at Paragraph 5. Appx. 00065-00066. This Settlement Agreement also voided the Third Agreement in its entirety. *See, e.g.*, Appx. 00069.

From the date of the Settlement Agreement until December 2012, AMBIT paid its rent.⁵ AMBIT then, without proper legal basis, stopped paying Horizon rent. On June 17, 2013, Horizon was forced to initiate additional litigation, asserting claims for declaratory judgment, breach of

⁵ On November 20, 2002, AMBIT asserted that it was not to pay Horizon rent until the 7th priority in the Trust Indenture Agreements. Appx. 00084-00086.

contract, injunctive relief, and specific performance, which claims were predicated upon AMBIT's unilateral decision to stop paying rent to Horizon.⁶

Unlike the instant case, this prior dispute primarily revolved around the priority order of when Horizon was to be paid rent in the aforementioned "waterfall" of priority. Appx. 00100-00101. Horizon was initially granted summary judgment on its declaratory judgment and breach of contract claims. *Am. Bituminous Power Partners, L.P. v. Horizon Ventures of W. Virginia, Inc.,* No. 14-0446, 2015 WL 2261649, at *1 (W. Va. May 13, 2015). AMBIT appealed to this Court, which reversed the lower court, finding summary judgment was inappropriate and remanded the case, with instructions that it be transferred to the Business Court Division. *Id.* at *6.

After additional protracted litigation, on August 22, 2017, the Business Court found that Horizon had breached a provision in the Lease Agreement which provides that:

If any Senior Debt shall become or be declared to be immediately due and payable, all Subordinated Rent shall become immediately due and payable notwithstanding any inconsistent terms of this Lease. Unless and until all Senior Debt shall have been paid when due (at its stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) in full accordance with its terms, Landlord shall not, without the prior written consent of the holders of Senior Debt, have any right to demand payment of, or institute any proceedings to enforce, any Subordinated Rent if at such time a default in payment of any Senior Debt when due shall have occurred and be continuing.

Appx. 00109-00110. Ultimately, the Court determined that there was Senior Debt remaining, and that Horizon had not obtained written consent of the holders of Senior Debt, *i.e.*, the banks involved in the Trust Indenture. Accordingly, the Court found in AMBIT's favor.⁷ The Court did, however, dismiss Horizon's claims for rent *without* prejudice. Appx. 00111-00112.

⁶ Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. v. American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P., et al., Civ. A. 13-C-196 (Ohio County, W.Va. 2013)

⁷ Many of these banks intervened in the 2013 action. See, e.g., Am. Bituminous Power Partners, L.P. v. Horizon Ventures of W. Virginia, Inc., No. 14-0446, 2015 WL 2261649, at *1 (W. Va. May 13, 2015).

AMBIT asserts, without proper basis, that this prior decision controls far more than its actual stated scope and that assertion has improperly impacted other decisions during this matter.

Critically, the 2015 Order stated that it intended to address "four key issues":

- 1. Defining Senior Debt;
- 2. The priority of rent payment;
- 3. The calculation of rent; and
- 4. the agreement not to sue found in the Lease Agreement.

Appx. 00103. The Court found, in short, that Deutsche Bank holds senior debt; that Horizon's right to collect debt is subordinate to senior debt; that rent was to be calculated in accordance with \P 6 of the Lease Agreement, subject to \P 5 of the 1996 Agreement; and that, ultimately, Horizon could not bring an action to collect rent because it contracted its right to do so away. *See, e.g.*, Appx. 00103, 00104, 00105, 00109.

Horizon believes that those findings are not particularly relevant to this appeal. What is relevant to this appeal, however, is the 2015 Court's finding that "[i]n analyzing the 1996 (Settlement) Agreement, the Court finds that paragraph fourteen is clear in limiting the applicability of the agreement because it provides that the 1996 Agreement did not supersede the Lease Agreement except for two sections, paragraph four – listing the parties closing obligations and paragraph five – Horizon's waiver of a portion of post-April percentage of rent." Appx. 00108. AMBIT's overly-broad interpretation of this finding in arguing the instant case, and the lower Court's adoption of AMBIT's argument, is directly responsible for many, if not all, of the errors which plague this litigation, as described fully *infra*.

Ultimately, the final resolution of the 2013 suit occurred on July 2, 2018.

B. Procedural History

AMBIT filed the instant lawsuit on or around August 28, 2018, claiming, *inter alia*, that because the 2013 court found that the May 28, 1996 agreement "had no prospective effect relative to the Lease agreement," it overpaid rent and was owed recompense from Horizon for the same. Appx. 00020, ¶ 22. More specifically, AMBIT claimed that usable waste coal was, in fact, exhausted in 2003, that it had, in fact, overpaid its past rents, and that it was due reimbursement for the same from Horizon. Appx. 00020-00021, ¶¶ 27-28.⁸

Horizon counterclaimed against AMBIT, claiming, *inter alia*, that: i). AMBIT made payments as required by the Settlement Agreement from that date until December 2012; ii). that AMBIT was currently breaching its agreement by not paying the same; iii) that AMBIT admitted to constructing an electric generation plant that was not capable of utilizing a large percentage of the "Local fuel" located on the premises; iv) that AMBIT constructed a smokestack which was inadequately designed; and v) that AMBIT had intentionally concealed that fact from Horizon for decades. Horizon Counterclaim, Appx. 00032-00047. Horizon asked for declaratory relief reinforcing AMBIT's agreement to pay rent, compensatory damages, disgorgement of all sums improperly paid to third parties, and pre- and post- judgment interest. Appx. 00047. Horizon also explained that it did not seek rent, but that it requested recognition of the appropriate rent rate. Id.

AMBIT moved to dismiss Horizon's counterclaim, asserting, in relevant part, that the bonds in question have been repaid, but that AMBIT is still paying the related indebtedness to the lending group, which is prioritized higher in the aforementioned "waterfall" than Horizon, and, therefore, AMBIT could not contractually be forced to pay rent to Horizon until that debt had been paid. Appx. 00091-00098. Horizon, in turn, explained in its response to that motion that AMBIT could not file a lawsuit demanding an accounting of rent while attempting to deny Horizon the

⁸ AMBIT lost their claim for overpaid rents in the lower court and has appealed the same in a separate filing, due the same day as this Brief.

ability to seek remedies based on the same facts. Appx. 00125-00130. After some delays while the case made its way to Business Court, the Business Court held, in relevant part, that:

AMBIT initiated this action seeking a declaratory judgment from the Court finding that AMBIT has over payed its rent obligation to Horizon. Horizon is seeking similar relief in its counterclaim alleging that AMBIT has underpaid rent. Based on this reason, the Court finds that it would be inequitable and a vast waste of judicial resources and economy to prevent Horizon from going forward with its declaratory action. Allowing Horizon to go forward with its counterclaim ultimately results in a single declaratory action to calculate rent. The only tangible difference of allowing Horizon to go forward with this singular part of its counterclaim is that Horizon can present its case as a sword rather than presenting the same case as a shield in Horizon's defense of AMBIT's claim. Further, Horizon's declaratory action is limited to the calculation, not collection, of rent.

Appx. 00401. The Court dismissed the rest of Horizon's claims, explaining, *inter alia*, that Horizon was not entitled to seek payment of rent while Senior Debt is outstanding and that it had failed to name the third parties from which it was seeking disgorgement. Appx. 00401-00402. Additionally, the Business Court found that the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement prohibited Horizon from seeking rent payments before third parties had been paid. *Id*.

Importantly, Horizon, at paragraphs 20 and 21 of its counterclaim, alleged that the May 28, 1996 Agreement to Resolve Pending Litigation ("Settlement Agreement") contained an express admission by AMBIT that it had always used Foreign fuel for non-operating reasons, and that **so long as any Local fuel is located on the premises, any Foreign fuel being used in the operation of the Plant is being used for Non-Operating Reasons.** Appx. 00037-00038; the Admissions provision is quoted, *in toto, supra* at pp. 5-6. (emphasis added). AMBIT, in its Answer to paragraphs 20 and 21 of Horizon's counterclaim, claimed, in relevant part, that "AMBIT denies that the 1996 Agreement has any prospective force/effect beyond two paragraphs (per Order of this Court, entered on 8.31.17)." Appx. 00413. AMBIT then repeated this denial at paragraphs 23 and 24. *Id* at 00414.

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