FILL COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA NO. 20-0759

HORIZON VENTURES OF WEST VIRGINIA, INC., A West Virginia corporation,

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

"""[a]n adjudication by a court having jurisdiction of the subject-matter and the parties is final and conclusive, not only as to the matters actually determined, but as to every other matter which the parties might have litigated as incident thereto and coming within the legitimate purview of the subject-matter of the action. It is not essential that the matter should have been formally put in issue in a former suit, but it is sufficient that the status of the suit was such that the parties might have had the matter disposed of on its merits. An erroneous ruling of the court will not prevent the matter from being *res judicata*." Point 1, Syllabus, Sayre's Adm'r v. Harpold, 33 W.Va. 553 [11 S.E. 16].' Syllabus Point 1, In re Estate of McIntosh, 144 W.Va. 583, 109 S.E.2d 153 (1959)." Syl. Pt. 1, Conley v. Spillers, 171 W. Va. 584, 301 S.E.2d 216 (1983).

Syl. pt. 2, *Bison Interests, LLC, v. Antero Resources Corp.*, 2020 W. Va. Lexis (Docket No. 19-0527) (November 10, 2020). "The doctrine of res judicata reflects the refusal of the law to tolerate a multiplicity of litigation." *Id.* at *26, quoting *Franklin Collection Serv., Inc., v. Stewart*, 863 So.2d 925, 929 (Miss. 2003).³¹

Lin v. Shin YiLin, 224 W. Va. 620, 687 S.E.2d 403 (2009).

³⁰ See, e.g., Merial, Inc. v. Sergeants Pet Care Prods., 806 Fed. Appx. 398, 405 (6th Cir. 2020).

³¹ Horizon expressly runs afoul of judicial estoppel as well, given that its Counterclaim references and seeks rent at the rate of 2.5 percent of gross revenues, while for the first time in this litigation, Petitioner's Brief seeks 3 percent. "Judicial estoppel precisely prohibits gamesmanship. The policies underlying the doctrine include precluding litigants from playing fast and loose with the courts, and prohibiting parties

For all of the reasons set forth herein, the Circuit Court of Marion County, Business Court Division's consideration and granting of AMBIT's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment must be upheld as a reflection of West Virginia law and of the full and fair discovery and motions practice conducted at length, all as overseen and ruled upon by Honorable James H. Young, Jr., below, who has considered these issues and worked with these parties across more than one litigation since 2014.

VI. SUMMARY OF RESPONSE.

The Circuit Court of Marion County, Business Court Division, granted AMBIT's renewed motion for summary judgment as a matter of law on the basis that, in response to AMBIT's dispositive motion, Horizon failed to raise any evidence whatsoever upon which a reasonable mind could find that AMBIT used its contractual grant of discretion arbitrarily or capriciously. Far from weighing the evidence or taking evidentiary issues from a jury, the Circuit Court found as a matter of law that no rational trier of fact could find that there was arbitrary or capricious action by AMBIT. Far from reversing and contradicting its positions, the Circuit Court worked with the parties on the remaining issues, allowed for discussion at a hearing before the Court in January, and gave Horizon months (January to July) to assemble its evidence. Yet, at summary disposition, the Court found as a matter of law that no rational trier of fact could find that AMBIT's actions were arbitrary or capricious. Specifically, "[t]he Court [found] that the Tenant's assertions are undisputed in the pleadings before the Court at this time." (emphasis added).

In its presiding over Horizon and AMBIT's litigations since 2014, the Circuit Court has

from deliberately changing positions according to the exigencies of the moment." *Bison Interests, LLC, v. Antero Resources Corp.*, 2020 W. Va. Lexis (Docket No. 19-0527) (November 10, 2020) at *34 (internal citations omitted).

ruled on a number of issues based upon West Virginia law, the vast majority of which issues are final at this time and, as a matter of law, must remain final, to be applied by the Court similarly to any other West Virginia law. When a court's decision is based on an interpretation of its own prior order in another matter, reviewing courts have found that the lower courts are in the best position to interpret their own orders.

The Lease Agreement controls fuel issues and provides AMBIT a grant of discretion to use its reasonable judgment in fuel selection limited from arbitrary and/or capricious behaviors. The Lease Agreement includes as well provisions that suggest a consulting engineer to provide insights into fuel disputes. However, that engineer's input must be limited to identifying 'arbitrary and/or capricious' behaviors in order to maintain any value in AMBIT's discretion. Beyond that, Horizon failed to address the issue below, instead retaining its own consulting engineer Donald Koza, PE, who failed to identify any arbitrary or capricious behaviors so as to help Horizon survive summary disposition.

Any effort to make every litigation about every litigation over a thirty-year period is antithetical to West Virginia law, as is addressing non-jurisdictional issues for the first time upon appeal. Both are precluded. Arguments to intrigue and efforts to mislead are unfounded, unsupported, and do a disservice to the Circuit Court that has worked with the same parties over multiple litigations over now seven years. The law directs counsel to focus on the law and the evidence to prove its case.

AMBIT appears before the Court in support of the summary disposition of its claims pursuant to the Circuit Court's recognition of AMBIT's contractual grant of discretion from Horizon.

VI. RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT.

Respondent AMBIT questions whether this matter is suitable for oral argument in that the assignments of error either arise from unappealed final orders in a prior litigation, arise from arguments not raised below, or constitute attacks upon the integrity of the process. Whereas the appellate rules allow for oral argument of cases with assignments of error relative to the application of established law or matters of first impression, the instant appeal fails to raise true issues relative to the underlying litigation, transgresses into maligning the process generally, and attempts to relitigate what Petitioner failed to appeal from a prior litigation. Argument will not elucidate the issues any further than the pleadings themselves. AMBIT will defer to the Court's judgment on this issue.

VII. RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT.

A. Introduction.

In order to aid this Honorable Court in understanding the issues more clearly, AMBIT provides the following chart, drawn from a parallel appeal:

| DATE | EVENT |
|-----------------|--|
| May 28, 1996 | Agreement to Resolve Pending Litigation Between American Bituminous Power Partners, LP, and Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. (a settlement agreement addressed in Civil Action No. 13-C-196 and whose applicability here was largely resolved by the August 31, 2017, Order). |
| 2003 | Usable waste coal (Local Fuel) exhausted on the demised premises, such that the remaining Local Fuel is unusable to AMBIT in generating power. |
| June 17, 2013 | Horizon files suit against AMBIT relative to subordinated rent. Ohio County Civil Action No. 13-C-196. |
| July 29, 2013 | AMBIT files its crossclaim against Horizon, seeking repayment of overpaid rent. |
| August 31, 2017 | Court rules that the Amended and Restated Lease controls rate of rent, not the 1996 Agreement. Horizon never challenged or appealed |

| | this Order. |
|------------------|--|
| August 31, 2017 | Court dismisses AMBIT's overpaid rent claim without prejudice |
| May 29, 2018 | Court enters final judgment order in Ohio County Civil Action No. 13-C-196. |
| August 27, 2018 | AMBIT refiles its overpaid rent claim as Marion County Circuit Court, Business Court Division, Civil Action No. 18-C-130 |
| December 2, 2019 | Pursuant to Court's scheduling order, the parties file cross motions for summary judgment |

AMBIT owns and operates the Grant Town Power Plant in Marion County, West Virginia, which Plant was constructed using \$150 million in Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds issued by the Marion County Commission. The contractual relationship between Horizon and AMBIT began on or about November 29, 1989, when Horizon leased certain parcels of land to AMBIT for the construction of the Grant Town Power Plant, which parcels included waste coal and waste coal fines, referenced in the lease as "Local Fuel." Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement ("Lease" or "Lease Agreement"), the amount of the monthly lease payment is a percentage of gross revenue received inter alia from power generation, with that percentage varying with whether AMBIT used Local or Foreign Fuel to generate the power and with the reasoning behind the fuel selection. Specifically, when AMBIT in its reasonable judgment determines that it is necessary to use Foreign Fuel for Operating Reasons (as defined in the Lease), it pays a lower percentage of gross revenue as rent in recognition of the costs incurred in purchasing, transportation and handling. Relative to fuel selection, the Lease gives AMBIT a contractual grant of discretion, such that the determinant expressly is AMBIT's reasonable judgment.³³ Specifically, once again, if AMBIT in its reasonable judgment decides it is

³² Horizon 00726.

³³ Horizon 00740; Syl. pt. 1, Art's Flower Shop v. Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co., 186 W. Va. 613, 413

necessary to use Foreign Fuel for <u>any one</u> of six Operating Reasons, then the rent rate of 1 percent is applied to gross revenues arising from power generated using that Foreign Fuel. The higher percent rent rate, 2.5 percent, applies to power generated using Foreign Fuel only when AMBIT uses Foreign Fuel arbitrarily and capriciously for Non-Operating Reasons as defined in the Lease Agreement. Pursuant to West Virginia law, that "reasonable judgment" constitutes a contractual grant of discretion, such that AMBIT's discretion prevails unless it acts arbitrarily and capriciously with that discretion. In support of that assertion, the Circuit Court relied upon West Virginia law in finding as follows:³⁴

- 24. The West Virginia Supreme Court has recognized that the interpretation and enforcement of contracts is within the province of this Court's authority, further finding it appropriate that the Court, where indicated, uphold and enforce contract provisions as a matter of law. See Syl. pt. 1, Art's Flower Shop v. Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co., 186 W. Va. 613, 413 S.E.2d 870 (1991).
- 25. West Virginia's Supreme Court in *Krypton Coal Corp. v. Golden Oak Mining Co.*, identified as the key determinations whether the company used its contracted-for discretion "arbitrarily or capriciously," both of which the Supreme Court further found are questions of law for this Court. Pursuant to *Krypton Coal*, the determination before this Court is law in the context of facts in contract construction that is, is there any evidence that AMBIT did not truly believe that the use Foreign Fuel was required for Operating Reasons.
- 26. Further, in terms of standards of review, West Virginia's Supreme Court has held that the 'arbitrary and capricious' standard is a deferential one, which presumes actions are valid "as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or a rational basis." Syl. pt. 3, *In re Queen*, 196 W. Va. 442, 473 S.E.2dd 483 (1996). Specifically, the Court further defined the standard as whether the defendant misapplied the law, entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation that ran counter to the evidence or offered an implausible explanation that could not be ascribed to a difference in viewpoint. *In re Queen*, 196 W. Va. at 446, 473 S.E.2d at 487.

S.E.2d 870 (1991).

³⁴ Horizon 02072ff.

³⁵ Horizon 02072ff., citing Krypton Coal, 181 W. Va. 403, 409 n.2, 383 S.E.2d 37, 41 n.2 (1989).

³⁶ Horizon 02072ff., citing See Syl. pt. 1, Art's Flower Shop v. Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co., 186 W. Va. 613, 413 S.E.2d 870 (1991).

- 27. Per West Virginia's Supreme Court, "an action is 'arbitrary and capricious' when it is unreasonable, without consideration, and in disregard of facts and circumstances of the case." *Bender v. Alderson-Broaddus College*, 212 W.Va. 502, 507 (2002) (citing *State ex rel Eads v. Duncil*, 196 W.Va. 604, 614 (1996)).
- 28. This Court noted as well that other jurisdictions have defined "arbitrary and capricious" to include *inter alia* assigning proper weight to the necessary decisional factors. *Banknote Corp. of Am., Inc., v. United States,* 365 F.3d 1345, 1357-58 (2004.) Found the *Banknote* Court, the discretionary decision "must be upheld unless it was 'clear error' or not 'rational'.'" *Id., quoting Gillis,* 4 F.3d at 1141 (quoting *Shiffler v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc'y,* 838 F.2d 78, 83 (3d Cir. 1988)).
- 29. This Court acknowledged that other jurisdictions have refused to uphold discretionary decisions when the decisionmaker "entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation for its decision that runs counter to the evidence . . ., or is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of . . . expertise." *Matter of Hilbertz v. City of New York*, 64 Misc. 3d 697, 712, 98 N.Y.S.3d 776, 790 (2019).
- 30. In reaching its decision in this matter, this Court noted that Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) defines 'arbitrary' to include "Depending on individual discretion; of, relating to, or involving a determination made without consideration of or regard for facts, circumstances, fixed rules, or procedures."
- 31. Further, the Court noted that Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) defines 'capricious' to include (as relates to a person -- in this instance, a business entity) "characterized by or guided by unpredictable or impulsive behavior; likely to change one's mind suddenly or to behave in unexpected ways."
- 32. Pursuant to West Virginia law, exercise of discretion is not open to any objective test of reasonableness, not open to comparison against an industry standard, not even subject to an assessment of 'right' or 'wrong' in its judgment.³⁷

Using these bases for its findings relative to contractual grant of discretion, which were identified in motions practice on the renewed motion, the Circuit Court provided Horizon the forum to present any evidence it had of AMBIT's use of its discretion in an arbitrary and/or capricious manner. Horizon produced no such evidence. As demonstrated repeatedly in Petitioner's Brief,

³⁷ Horizon 02072ff, citing, by analogy, Schroeder v. Adkins, 149 W.Va.400, 141 S.E.2d 352 (1965), where 'reasonably prudent' is not synonymous with perfection.

Horizon is stuck in several past litigations and has failed to advance its thinking and its arguments to the current litigation. Of particular note, Horizon alleges that "[t]he lower court erred in suddenly, and confusingly, disregarding the 1996 Settlement Agreement between the parties and subsequently accepting AMBIT's 'arbitrary and capricious' standard in pushing this case to resolution" (emphasis added).³⁸ Of note, even assuming the issue were viable (which it is not), Horizon did not raise this issue below,³⁹ such that its interest now, raised for the first time, in addressing a final order from a previous litigation, which order was never challenged or appealed, nor its application addressed in this litigation violates legal precepts from res judicata to raising non-jurisdictional issues for the first time on appeal to failing to appeal a final judgment of the circuit court [in Civil Action 13-C-196] by launching a collateral attack - all of which are precluded by West Virginia law. Whereas a considerable portion of Petitioner's Brief is dedicated to its efforts to resuscitate that issue, to revisit the last litigation that it failed to challenge in any way, finally West Virginia law prohibits collateral attack of an order that a litigant failed to challenge properly. Whereas Horizon has dedicated no less than ten pages of its Argument to the improper collateral attack, 40 finally, the litigation of the 1996 Agreement ended in May 2018, without Horizon's appealing any of the rulings. Whereas now, too late, in the wrong litigation, in

³⁸ Petitioner's Brief at 16.

³⁹ Whereas Horizon alleges that it explained these issues to the lower court numerous times (Petitioner's Brief at 19), this express issues was never before the Court. For example, Horizon raised the admissions, which the Court identified as being from the last litigation and on the wrong issue in any event. Horizon 01124-25. Horizon never litigated the 1996 Agreement in Civil Action 18-C-130. AMBIT addressed the last litigation as *res judicata* and cited paragraph 14, which the Court did as well. Horizon 01129-30. Because it was not raised below, West Virginia precludes its inclusion here. That is, Petitioner is precluded by West Virginia law from raising non-jurisdictional issues for the first time at appeal. *Tri-State Petroleum Corp. v. Coyne*, 240 W. Va. 542, 556, 814 S.E.2d 205, 220 (2018), *quoting Whitlow v. Board of Education*, 190 W. Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993); Syl. pt. 1, 2, *Wang-Yu Lin v. Shin YiLin*, 224 W. Va. 620, 687 S.E.2d 403 (2009).

⁴⁰ Petitioner's Brief at 16-26.

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